STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Horry County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

LADORREAN C. COLLINGTON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001413

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

APR 30 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to testimony in regard to prior threats and difficulties between Petitioner and the deceased when counsel moved pre-trial to exclude the testimony, some testimony was admitted, without objection, before the judge ruled on admissibility, the testimony was not admissible as res gestae, the State failed to prove the prior difficulties by clear and convincing evidence and the prejudicial effect of the testimony far out-weighed any probative value?

STATEMENT

In 2008, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Ladorrean Collington, for murder. Later, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for four counts of accessory before the fact of a felony. Specifically, accessory before the fact of murder, accessory before the fact of kidnapping, accessory before the fact of burglary first degree and accessory before the fact of armed robbery, indictments #2010-GS-26-1225, 1626, 1627 and 2011-GS-26-1276. On June 6, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial, solely on the accessory before the fact of burglary first degree and accessory before the fact of armed robbery indictments, #2010-GS-26-1626, 1627, before the Honorable Steven H. John. Petitioner was tried jointly with Quentin Gause, who was charged with murder, burglary first degree and armed robbery. H. Gregory McCollum represented Petitioner at trial. Ronald Hazzard represented Gause. Heather Tolar von Hermann and Martin D. Spratlin prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty of accessory before the fact of burglary first degree and accessory before the fact of armed robbery. Judge John sentenced Petitioner to two concurrent twenty-two (22) year sentences. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions and sentences. State v. Collington, Op. No. 2011-UP-225 (S.C. Ct.App. file May 22, 2013).

On January 27, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. The State filed a return on June 9, 2014. On February 7, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. Jeremy Thompson represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Valerie Giovanoli represented the State. In an order signed May 15, 2017, Judge Nettles denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on June 23, 2017. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to testimony in regard to prior threats and difficulties between Petitioner and the deceased when counsel moved pre-trial to exclude the testimony, some testimony was admitted, without objection, before the judge ruled on admissibility, the testimony was not admissible as res gestae, the State failed to prove the prior difficulties by clear and convincing evidence and the prejudicial effect of the testimony far out-weighted any probative value.

During the course of a robbery and burglary of his home on April 14, 2008, Allen Smith was shot and killed. Tiffany James testified that on April 14, 2008, she drove Greg Floyd, Quentin Gause and her cousin, Donell James to Allen Smith's house. (App. p. 998, line 21- p. 999, lines 1-25). She testified that Floyd kicked in the front door and the three men went inside. (R. p. 1000, lines 1-3). Tiffany testified that she heard gun shots and then the three men ran out of the house and jumped in the car. (R. p. 1000, line 19 – p. 1001, lines 1-8). Donell James admitted to his involvement in the robbery that resulted in Allen Smith's death on April 14, 2008. (App. pp. 831-839).

Floyd admitted to his involvement in the April 14th robbery and shooting. Floyd admitted kicking in the front door. (App. p. 969, lines 21-25). Floyd admitted shooting Allen Smith. (App. p. 974, lines 20-25). According to Floyd, however, Allen Smith had already been shot when Floyd "mis-pulled" the trigger and shot. (App. p. 973, line 1 – p. 974, lines 1-25). Floyd did not see who shot Allen Smith first because he was in another room. (App. pp. 972-973). Floyd testified that, after hearing shotgun blasts, Donell and Gause ran out of Smith's bedroom. (App. p. 973, lines 3-18).

Petitioner was tried, in a joint trial with Gause, as an accessory before the fact to burglary first degree and an accessory before the fact to armed robbery. Co-defendant Gause was tried for murder, burglary first degree and armed robbery. During a May 13, 2011, pre-trial hearing trial

counsel moved to exclude evidence of prior threats and difficulties between Smith and Petitioner. (App. pp. 109 – 112). The judge agreed to hear the motion at a later date. (App. p. 112, lines 10-16). On June 2, 2011, the judge heard the motion but reserved ruling. (App. pp. 71-78).

During the trial the State introduced testimony about the following seven instances of alleged prior threats and difficulties between Petitioner and Smith: 1.) a verbal altercation that turned physical between Petitioner and Smith on April 8, 2008; 2.) a window breaking incident on April 8, 2008; 3.) a prior alleged window breaking incident; 4.) a confrontation between Petitioner and Frankie Davis, Smith's girlfriend, on April 11, 2008; 5.) a threatening voicemail on April 11, 2008; 6.) a purported threatening text message on April 13, 2008; and 7.) an inflammatory note associated with the April 8, 2008, window breaking incident.

April 8, 2008, incident and two window breaking incidents.

Most of the prior difficulty testimony came from State's witness Anthony Graham. At trial Graham testified, without objection, about a verbal altercation that turned physical between Petitioner and Smith on Tuesday, April 8, 2008. (App. p. 514, line 3 – p. 513, lines 1-25). Graham also testified, without objection, that following the altercation on April 8th, Petitioner broke the front window of the house where Smith was living with his girlfriend, Davis. (App. p. 519, line 21 – p. 520, lines 1-22). Graham did not know what the note said but the police were called and the contents of the note are discussed below. (App. p. 520, lines 17-25). Graham testified, without objection, that the police officer joked that this was not the first time Petitioner had broken one of Smith's windows. (App. p. 521, lines 1-12).

April 11, 2008 incident.

Graham also testified, without objection, about an alleged confrontation between Petitioner and Frankie Davis on April 11, 2008. (App. p. 526, lines 7-22). The State questioned

Graham about a phone call he received from Petitioner on April 11, 2008, following the confrontation. (App. p. 526, line 23 – p. 527, lines 1-3). The State then realized that the equipment needed to play a State’s exhibit related to the phone call was not available at that time and moved on. (App. p. 527, lines 4-5).

April 13, 2008, text message.

The State next questioned Graham about a purported text message between Petitioner and Smith on April 13, 2008. (App. p. 527, lines 7-17). Trial counsel objected when the witness was asked, “ – did he say that she had been leaving him any kind of text messages?” (App. p. 527, lines 15-18). The judge sustained the objection. (App. p. 527, line 19). Graham, however, then testified, without objection, that the deceased said that “ – this bitch is crazy . . .” (App. p. 527, line 25 – p. 528, line 1). Graham then testified, again without objection, that the text message said, “You and your mother could get it.” (App. p. 527, line 25 – p. 528, lines 1-9).

April 11, 2008 phone message.

The State then revisited the April 11, 2008, phone call discussed earlier. When the State moved to admit a recording of a voice message left on Graham’s phone by Petitioner on April 11, 2008, after the alleged confrontation with Davis, trial counsel objected. (App. p. 542, line 14 – p. 543, lines 1-14). Trial counsel referenced the pre-trial motions. (App. p. 543, lines 13-14). The judge overruled the objection and the recording was played for the jury. (App. p. 543, lines 15-16; p. 544, lines 7-8). At the close of Graham’s testimony trial counsel moved for a mistrial and curative instruction based on the admission of the testimony in regard to prior threats and difficulties between Smith and Petitioner. (App. p. 610, lines 21 – p. 611, 612, 613, lines 1-4).

The judge denied the motion and stated:

Mr. McCollum, certainly you raised the matter to the Court. You had the motion to exclude the evidence of threats, and we

discussed it on a couple of occasions, and again at the – you know, before the trial started. My notes reflect that I told you that I would rule on the matter when it was raised at trial.

We had the entirety of the testimony of one of the victims in this matter, and that was Mr. Anthony Graham. At no time during his testimony did you raise the issue before the Court. All of his testimony as to prior difficulties is in evidence. It's in evidence without objection. It's in evidence without the defendant, Collington, raising an issue to it. The Court's first position is you've waived it. It's over. The evidence is in the record. It is too late to object to the problem, if there was one, now.

(App. p. 614, lines 5-20). Additionally, the judge ruled the evidence was admissible under Rules 401, 403, and 404 of the Rules of Evidence and pursuant to the doctrine of res gestae. (App. p. 614, line 21 – p. 532, lines 1-4). Trial counsel then moved to limit further testimony about the prior threats and difficulties. (App. p. 615, line 22 – p. 616, lines 1-4). The judge denied the motion but stated, “Now, if you have a specific objection to a particular question and – that is posed by the State, because I've made this general rule does not mean you are prohibited from making other objections or objections you deem proper regarding a specific question. You've asked for a ruling in general and I've given you a ruling in general. If you've got a problem about a particular question, you need to raise that at that time, so we're clear about that.” (App. p. 616, lines 13-20).

Despite the instruction from the trial judge in regard to raising specific objections as they occurred during the course of the trial, trial counsel failed to object when Frankie Davis testified about Petitioner breaking her window on two occasions. (App. p. 635, lines 6-13). When asked about a confrontation with Petitioner on April 11, 2008, trial counsel objected. (App. p. 635, lines 14-21). The judge overruled the objection. (App. p. 635, lines 22-23).

Trial counsel again failed to object when Tiffany James testified about a verbal altercation that took place on April 8, 2008, between Petitioner and Smith. (App. p. 1065, line 6 – p. 1066, 1067, lines 1-10). James testified, however, that she was not in the room when the

alleged altercation took place. (App. p. 1067, lines 1-10). James testified, over objection, that after the altercation on April 8th, Petitioner used a hammer handle to break the front window of the house where Smith was living with Davis. (App. p. 1068, line 5 – p. 1069, 1070, lines 1-10). James also testified that Petitioner left a note after breaking the window. (App. p. 1070, lines 8-19).

Inflammatory note.

Officer Daniel Cradic of the Horry County Police Department went to Smith's house after the April 8th window breaking incident. (App. p. 1199, line 3 – p. 1120, lines 1-22). Officer Cradic testified there was a note found at the scene. The officer read the note at the scene and at trial testified that he copied the contents of the note in his report. (App. p. 1202 lines 1-13). Trial counsel failed to object at trial when Officer Cradic read the contents of the note to the jury stating: "bitch, I will be back, nigger, fuck you. F.Y. bitch ass, AIDS-infected bitch. Yeah, we all got it. D-baby." (App. p. 1204 lines 4-6).

Direct Appeal.

On direct appeal Petitioner challenged the admission of the prior threats and difficulties between Petitioner and Smith and specifically challenged the admission of the voicemail message left on Graham's phone by Petitioner on April 11, 2008. (App. pp. 1362-1382). Petitioner argued that the prior threats and difficulties did not meet an exception to Rule 404(b), SCRE, and were not part of the res gestae of the crimes charged. (App. pp. 1362-1378). Additionally Petitioner argued that the State failed to prove the prior threats and difficulties by clear and convincing evidence and that any probative value in the admission of the testimony was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. (App. p. 1379).

In affirming the South Carolina Court of Appeals found that the voicemail message from April 11, 2008, and the testimony by Davis about a confrontation with Petitioner on April 11, 2008, were both properly admitted in evidence. In regard to the voicemail message, The South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

In the voicemail message, Collington indicated the victim "done made [her] mad" by living with another woman and that victim was "bouts to get it" and "better watch his . . . back." We find this evidence was logically relevant to show Collington's motive and intent to plan the home invasion. See Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 29, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008) (holding "[t]o be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged"). Additionally, we find the voicemail message was admissible under the res gestae theory. See Adams, 322 S.C. at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 370-71 (holding evidence of prior bad acts may be admissible under the res gestae theory when it "furnishes part of the context of the crime" or is necessary to a "full presentation" of the case). Accordingly, we find the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting this evidence. See Morris, 376 S.C. at 205-06, 656 S.E.2d at 368 (holding the admission or exclusion of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and the trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion).

(App. pp. 1416, 1417). In regard to the April 11, 2008, confrontation between Petitioner and Davis, the Court of Appeals wrote:

As to the testimony of victim's live-in girlfriend, Frankie Davis, regarding a confrontation she had with Collington in the days preceding the home invasion, we find the evidence was admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE and the res gestae theory. Here, the evidence of Collington's anger and jealousy over the victim's relationship with Davis was probative of Collington's motive and provided the jury with a context for the home invasion. See Rule 404(b), SCRE (stating that evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is generally inadmissible to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged, but recognizing an exception to this rule when such evidence shows "motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent"); State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370-71 (1996) (holding evidence of prior bad acts may be admissible under the res gestae theory when it "furnishes part of the context of the crime" or is necessary to a "full presentation" of the case). Accordingly, we find the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting Davis's testimony. See State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 205- 06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the [trial] court's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." (citation omitted)).

(App. p. 1416).

With regard to the challenge to the admission of testimony by Graham and Officer Cradic about other prior threats and difficulties, however, the Court of Appeals found that the issue was not preserved for appellate review writing:

As to whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence of prior difficulties between Collington and the victim, we affirm. To the extent Collington challenges Anthony Graham's and Officer Daniel Cradic's testimony concerning Collington's prior difficulties with the victim, we find these arguments are not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (stating that to preserve an issue for appellate review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (holding that in order to preserve an issue for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court); *id.* at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694 (stating a party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal).

(App. p. 1416).

Post-conviction relief.

At the PCR hearing Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to contemporaneously object to testimony in regard to prior threats and difficulties between Petitioner and Smith. (App. p. 1437, line 14 – p. 1438, lines 1-16). When asked if there was a strategic reason for failing to object to the testimony of Graham and Officer Cradic about prior threats and difficulties between Petitioner and Smith, trial counsel answered, “No. It’s just inadvertence. It’s just –ineffective is failing to do what I have to do to preserve it, under the rules of evidence.” (App. p. 1474, line 20 – p. 1475, lines 1-2).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

This Court finds that Counsel was not deficient when he did not object to evidence properly admitted. The evidence of prior bad acts, as testified to by Graham and Cradic, was properly admitted based on Rule 404(b), SCRE and the *res gestae* theory. While this Court is aware of the rule requiring contemporaneous objections in order to preserve an issue for appeal, the rule does

not require objections to be made to properly admitted evidence. Because the issue would have been upheld on appeal, counsel was not deficient in withholding his objection. This Court finds Applicant has failed to prove Counsel's omission was deficient.

(App. p. 1502). The PCR judge erred. Trial counsel admitted that he was deficient in failing to preserve the issue for appeal. (App. p. 1474, line 20 – p. 1475, lines 1-2). Trial counsel attempted to preserve his objections to the prior threats and difficulties testimony, as evidenced by the pre-trial motions and the curative instruction/mistrial motion made after Graham's testimony. This was not a situation where trial counsel elected not to object because he believed the testimony was properly admitted. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to make a timely objection to the prior threat/difficulty testimony from Graham and Officer Cradic. If trial counsel had objected, the Court of Appeals could have addressed the merits of whether the admission of the testimony was improper.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2052; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). First, the applicant must show counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2052. Next, the applicant must show he was prejudiced by counsel's performance such that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Id. at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2052.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to testimony in regard to the following five remaining allegations of prior threats and difficulties: 1.) Graham's testimony about a verbal

altercation that turned physical between Petitioner and Smith on April 8, 2008; 2.) a window breaking incident on April 8, 2008; 3.) a prior alleged window breaking incident; 4.) a purported threatening text message on April 13, 2008; and 5.) Officer Cradic's testimony about the inflammatory content of a note.

As to the prejudice prong, in the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

Assuming *arguendo* Counsel's omission was deficient, Applicant cannot prove prejudice. On appeal, Applicant argued that the trial court improperly allowed evidence of bad acts to be admitted. Although the Court of Appeals found the issue of Graham and Cradic concerning Applicant's prior difficulties with the victim was not properly preserved, they found the testimony from Davis concerning the confrontation with Applicant days before the home invasion was properly admitted under Rule 404(b), SCRE and the *res gestae* theory. The Court of Appeals also found the contents of the threatening voicemail left on Graham's phone was properly admitted under Rule 404(b), SCRE and the *res gestae* theory. Similar to those prior bad acts, the testimony of prior bad acts not preserved for review was also properly admitted under Rule 404(b), SCRE and the *res gestae* theory. Had the issue been preserved for review, the Court of Appeals would not have found any differently.

(App. p. 1502). The PCR judge erred. While the Court of Appeals found that both the voice mail message and the testimony by Davis about the confrontation with Petitioner on April 11th were properly admitted, if preserved, the analysis by the appellate court with regard to the other five instances would have been different. There is a reasonable probability that, if a timely objection had been made, the Court of Appeals would have found the additional testimony from Graham and Cradic about prior difficulties and threats inadmissible because the State failed to prove the prior instances by clear and convincing evidence as required by Rule 404(b), the prior instances were not part of the *res gestae* of the crimes charged and because the probative value of the testimony was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

Evidence of other bad acts is not admissible to prove a person's guilt; however, such evidence may be admissible to show motive, identity, existence of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, or intent. Rule 404(b), SCORE; see also State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). While evidence of prior threats or difficulties may be admissible to show intent or motive, Blakely v. State, 360 S.C. 636, 639, 602 S.E.2d 758, 759 (2004) (holding evidence of prior threats against a defendant's girlfriend was admissible to show intent); State v. Atkins, 303 S.C. 214, 220, 399 S.E.2d 760, 763 (1990) (finding evidence of a defendant's prior difficulties with a victim's family concerning racial differences was relevant to prove motive); State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 296, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980) (holding evidence of a verbal argument between the defendant and victim that occurred three days before the murder was admissible to show motive), evidence of the prior threats or difficulties, not subject to a conviction, must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001).

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