STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001413

Ladorrean C. Collington,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.
S.C. Bar No. 101260
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
OCT 15 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE PCR COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF BECAUSE COUNSEL'S NON-OBJECTION WAS OF NO CONSEQUENCE WHERE THE TESTIMONY AT ISSUE WAS RELEVANT AND ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 404(B), SCRE, FORMED PART OF THE RES GESTAE OF THE CRIMES COMMITTED, AND WAS OTHERWISE MERELY CUMULATIVE TO OTHER EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE SAME.

The PCR court properly denied relief and found Counsel was not ineffective because the unobjected evidence was admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the crimes for which Petitioner was charged and also demonstrated her motive in arranging the crimes to be committed. Petitioner offers five instances where Counsel allegedly should have objected, four of which occur during the testimony of witness Anthony Graham, and one of which occurs during the testimony of Officer Daniel Cradic.

First, Graham testified the victim lived with his girlfriend, but Petitioner believed the victim should be with her. Graham testified victim and Applicant got into a verbal altercation which turned into a physical one when Petitioner ripped the chain off of the victim's neck. (Appx. 512-16). Graham testified Petitioner threatened to go get her gun and so Graham and the victim headed back to the victim's home watching over their shoulder for Petitioner. (Appx. 515-17).

Second, Graham then testified after they arrived back at the victim's home, they heard a window break. Graham testified he saw Petitioner leaving the scene. (Appx. 518-20). Third, Graham testified the individual who made the report of the broken window was joking with the victim about the fact that Petitioner had previously broken his window. (Appx. 520-21).

Fourth, Graham testified he and the victim received calls and messages on their phones from an upset Petitioner. Graham testified the victim showed him a text message the victim

received from Petitioner which read “something about you and your mama could get it.” (Appx. 527-28).

Fifth, Officer Cradic testified he responded to the victim’s home after the report of a broken window. (Appx. 1200-01). He testified a note was found at the scene, which he read and copied into his report. (Appx. 1202-04). He testified the note read: “b---h, I will be back, n----r, f--k you. F.Y. b---h a--, AIDS infected b---h. Yeah, we all got it. D-baby.” (Appx. 1204, ll. 4-6).

Petitioner was charged as an accessory before the fact of burglary and armed robbery. In order to convict Petitioner, the State was required to show: “(1) that the defendant advised and agreed, or urged the parties or in some way aided them, to commit the offense; (2) that the defendant was not present when the offense was committed; and (3) that the principal committed the crime.” State v. Bixby, 373 S.C. 74, 75 n.2, 644 S.E.2d 54, 55 n.2 (2007).

The State asserted the evidence was admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the crime and because it met several exceptions delineated in Rule 404(b), SCRE, and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923) (evidence of other crimes may be admissible when it tends to establish (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) the absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the proof of the other; or (5) the identity of the person charged with the present crime).

a. The testimony was admissible under the *res gestae* theory.

Evidence of prior bad acts is admissible when it furnishes part of the context of the crime or is necessary to a full presentation of the case. State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996); State v. Fletcher, 363 S.C. 221, 246, 609 S.E.2d 572, 585 (Ct. App. 2005). “The *res*

gestae theory recognizes that evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.” Fletcher, 363 S.C. at 246, 609 S.E.2d at 585 (citing State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 552 S.E.2d 745 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 608 S.E.2d 435 (Ct. App. 2004).

This evidence of other crimes is admissible:

When such evidence furnishes part of the context of the crime or is necessary to a full presentation of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its environment that its proof is appropriate in order to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the *res gestae* or the uncharged offense is so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other . . . and is thus part of the *res gestae* of the crime charged. And where evidence is admissible to provide this full presentation of the offense, there is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry by suppressing parts of the *res gestae*.

Adams, 322 S.C. at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting United States v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4th Cir. 1980) (quotation marks omitted)). Under this theory, it is important that the temporal proximity of the prior bad act be closely related to the charged crime. State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 652, 552 S.E.2d 745, 753 (2001).

The evidence presented all occurred in the week leading up to the home invasion, burglary, and murder. The testimony and other evidence such as the messages indicated Petitioner intended to “get back” at the victim for living with the other woman. Further, Graham testified his initial reaction was Petitioner “sent them boys over here because - - because of so much stuff was going on.” (Appx. 536). Additionally, the prior difficulties were clearly intertwined with the actual planning and arranging of the crimes by Petitioner and the commission of the crimes by her co-defendants. A complete story could not have been

represented to the jury without establishing background for the actual home invasion, burglary, armed robbery, and murder. As a result, the trial court properly concluded the testimony was admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the case, and Counsel's non-objections were of no consequence because there was no basis for the objections Petitioner contends should have been made.

b. The testimony was admissible as evidence under Lyle or Rule 404(b)

Additionally, the evidence clearly satisfied the requirements of Lyle and Rule 404(b).¹ Evidence of a prior bad act is admissible if it tends to demonstrate the motive of the individual or establish a common scheme or plan. A common scheme or plan can be shown through "a pattern of continuous misconduct." State v. Tutton, 354 S.C. 319, 328, 580 S.E.2d 186, 191 (Ct. App. 2003). Petitioner only argues regarding the similarities test as enunciated in State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 277-78 (2009). However, the Court also upheld continuous conduct basis for finding a common scheme or plan in State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 159, 682 S.E.2d 892, 898 (2009) (concluding evidence of the defendant's continued illicit sexual abuse "prior to the indicted offenses constitutes the archetypal 'common scheme or plan' evidence").

The evidence clearly shows an escalating pattern of continuous misconduct by Petitioner. She breaks the windows of the home where the victim is residing, leaves threatening messages in which she threatens the victim, and ultimately sends individuals to get even with the victim by breaking into his home and robbing him. As a result, the trial court properly concluded the evidence established a common scheme or plan whereby Petitioner was upset with the victim and planned to get even.

¹ To the extent Petitioner argues the prior bad act evidence was not established by clear and convincing evidence, multiple individuals testified to the bad blood between Petitioner and the victim and so the prior bad acts were established by clear and convincing evidence.

Additionally, the evidence clearly establishes Petitioner's motive for arranging, planning, and encouraging her co-defendants to commit the home invasion. Petitioner was upset with the victim for leaving her and moving in with his girlfriend. She made numerous threats to the victim and subsequently carried out the threats by arranging and encouraging the home invasion.

The State had to demonstrate Petitioner orchestrated the home invasion even though she did not participate. "Accessory before the fact . . . requires a showing that the accused: (1) either advised and agreed, urged, or in some way aided some other person to commit the offense; (2) was not present when the offense was committed; and (3) that some principal committed the crime. The State need only prove that some principal committed the crime at the behest of the accessory." State v. Smith, 316 S.C. 53, 55, 447 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1993)(citations omitted). The State had to demonstrate Petitioner had some motive to solicit the home invasion, especially in light of Petitioner's argument she received nothing by having the burglary and armed robbery committed.

This case is very similar to the case of State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2004), in which the State sought to admit a prior domestic violence against the appellant to demonstrate his motive for breaking into the home where his former live in girlfriend now resided. The Court of Appeals found the incident of domestic violence demonstrated Sweat's motive because it showed the break-in was "driven by anger over [the former girlfriend] causing him to go to jail and terminating their relationship, and that he intended to "get his property." Id., 362 S.C. at 126, 606 S.E.2d at 513. As the Court explained: "Evidence of previous difficulties or ill feelings between the accused and the victim and of facts showing the cause of such difficulties or ill will is admissible on the question of motives where there is some

connection of cause and effect between the evidence and the crime.” Id. (citing State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 270 S.E.2d 126 (1980); 40 C.J.S., Homicide, Section 228).

Here the prior difficulties clearly establish the motive for Petitioner to plan, arrange, and encourage the home invasion which lead to her being charged with accessory before the fact of burglary and armed robbery. She clearly intended to get even with the victim because he had broken off any relationship with her and was living with his new girlfriend. The prior difficulties, as was established in Sweat, indicate she arranged the home invasion out of jealousy and anger.

Further, during the cross-examination of one of the co-defendants, Petitioner’s counsel directly asserted she had no motive to arrange the home invasion:

Q. She set it up, did the whole thing. What was she going to get out of it?

A. I don’t know. I didn’t talk to her. She talked to [another co-defendant].

Q. What was she going to get out of it? Nothing.

(Appx. 993, ll. 21-25). The State answered this question by presenting the evidence of the prior difficulties and the threats made by Petitioner against the victim. The answer presented was her motivation for setting it up: revenge.

- c. Even if the testimony was objectionable, Counsel’s failure to object was of no consequence in light of the other evidence validly admitted to show prior difficulties and in light of the overwhelming strength of the evidence against Petitioner.**

Additionally, the admission of the evidence was entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s guilt and the fact its admission was cumulative to other evidence including evidence solicited by Petitioner’s counsel, such that Petitioner could not possibly meet her burden of showing prejudice under Strickland. “An error is harmless if the defendant’s guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that no other result

could have been reached.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 60, 609 S.E.2d 520, 524 (2005).

Further, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003); see also State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless).

The testimony of Anthony Graham and Officer Cradic was cumulative to testimony by Tiffany James, a friend of Petitioner. (Appx. 1064; 1068). The testimony was additionally cumulative to the testimony of the victim’s live-in girlfriend, Frankie Davis, and the voicemail message Petitioner left on the phone of the victim’s friend during the week of the home invasion, both of which were affirmed on direct appeal as relevant under Rule 404(b), SCRE, and the *res gestae* theory. (State’s Exhibit 72; Appx. 543-44; 635-38). Further, several co-defendants testified regarding their roles in the home invasion—they each testified Petitioner planned and urged them to commit the burglary and robbery. (Appx. 678-79; 818-20; 845-46; 948-49; 955; 993-94; 1071-74; 1085). As a result of the significant other evidence in the record, any error is entirely harmless.

Accordingly, the trial court properly found the testimony and evidence admissible under Rule 404(b), Lyle, and as part of the *res gestae* of the case. The PCR court properly reached the same conclusions. Further, the probative value of the evidence clearly outweighed the prejudicial nature of the testimony and evidence and so was admissible under Rule 403, SCRE. Therefore, this Court should affirm the PCR court’s denial of post-conviction relief.

CONCLUSION